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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

On the east bank of the Pocomoke River approximately 
six miles southwest of Pocomoke City off Cedarhall Wharf 
Road stands Beverly, a Georgian style house. Two stories 
plus an attic, Beverly is five bays wide by three deep. The 
west or river facade has a central door surmounted by a small, 
heavy fanlight with a gauged brick arch. Directly above the 
door is a narrow Palladian-style window with narrow shutters. 
On both the first and second stories of each remaining bay 
is a 12 over 12 window. The first story windows have fine- 
panel shutters while those on the second have louvered shutters. 
The flat arches above the windows are of gauged brick. The 
rose-colored brick is laid in Flemish bond. Encircling the 
house between the first and second stories is a three-course 
belt of rubbed brick. Along the roof is a heavy modillion 
cornice with a dentil frieze. The house sits on a brick 
foundation laid in Flemish bond and has a molded brick water- 
table. The steps leading to the door have wrought iron railings 
and a delicate, wrought iron arch.

Covering the three center bays of the east facade is a 
two-story, pedimented portico. There are plain, square corner 
columns while the two center ones are fluted Greek ionic 
columns. The cornice treatment on the pediment is identical 
to that on the house.

The north end has a nine over nine light window in each of 
the three bays on the first and second stories. One four over 
four light window is centered in the gable.

There is an inside gable end chimney on both the north and 
south ends.

The south end has a single nine over nine light window on 
the first and second stories of the west bay. In the gable are 
3 .four over four light windows. Extending from the center and 
east bays is a one-story hyphen of beaded clapboard connected 
to a two-story plus attic wing.

The wing adjoining Beverly on the south is two bays 
wide by two deep. On the south end there is a door in the 
east bay and a narrow, nine over six light window in the west 
bay. The two bays on the second floor each have a nine over 
six light window. In the gable, flanking the inside end chimney 
are 2 four over two sash windows. This wing is covered with 
beaded clapboard.

Beverly has six rooms on its first floor. In the center 
are two separate halls. The exterior door in the east facade 
opens into one hall and the door in the river facade opens into 
the other, which is the stair hall. There are two rooms flank­ 
ing

The northwest room is completely paneled. The fireplace 
centered on the north wall has a rectangular opening surrounded 
by a plain, black marble architrave in the center of which 
is a white marble keystone. Fluted pilasters with full entab­ 
lature in ressaut frame the chimney breast. Flanking the fire­ 
place are two closets with four-panel doors and H-L hinges.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The size and elegance of Beverly on the Pocomoke in 
Worcester County, a Georgian mansion of 1770*s date, reflects 
the prominent position held in the county by its builders, 
Littleton Dennis and his wife, Susanna Upshur Dennis. It 
is larger than the average house of the period in this county 
and it is more formal, exhibiting a local adaptation of the 
high style of the time. The original paneling and woodwork, 
which shows characteristics of both the early and late 
Georgian periods as well as a few Federal touches, is still 
retained in the house. An ice house, uncommon by its 
circular shape, survives to the northwest. It is original 
to the house.

Littleton Dennis (1728-1774), a successful lawyer, 
began the construction of Beverly probably in the late 1760's 
or early 1770's. After his death, the house was reputedly 
completed by his wife Susanna. In Dennis's will, dated 1768 
and probated in 1774, he devised "unto my son John Dennis . . . 
all the lands whereon I live with the land thereunto adjoining 
except the marsh land . . . . "^ His wife was made the executor 
of his estate. The inventory of his goods and chattels 
taken in August of 1774 showed Dennis to be an extremely 
wealthy man. In addition to Beverly, called the Manor, he 
owned four other properties: the Mill Plantation, the Swamp 
Plantation, Caldegut Plantation, and the Sea Side Plantation. 
He had fifty-one slaves at Beverly and the total worth of 
his personal property came to fc9598nl6"ll, exclusive of 
approximately £2,000 worth of debts owed to him.3

-"-Katherine Scarborough, Homes of the Cavaliers (Reprint 
of 1930 ed.; Cambridge, Maryland: Tidewater Publishers, 1969, 
p. 387.

2Will JW 4/231, Worcester County Probate Records, Hall of 
Records, Annapolis, Maryland.

^Inventory JW 9/268, Worcester County Inventories, Hall of 
Records, Annapolis, Maryland.

(See con-hirmat-irm 9)
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77DESCRIPTION, continued

On the west wall are two 12 over 12 light windows with paneled 
recesses and a single horizontal panel beneath the window above 
the window seat. The room has a heavy cornice with dentil 
molding and a bolection chair rail.

The northeast parlor is much less elaborate. The fireplace 
wall is fully paneled. The fireplace has a rectangular opening 
framed by fluted pilasters with square-spiral end blocks. 
The center tablet has an Adamesque sunburst. Two closets flank 
the fireplace. The window recesses are paneled as in the 
northwest room. The room has a simple cornice and paneled 
wainscot.

The east hall has an exterior door with 32 lights above 
which is a deeply recessed fanlight. The hall has a simple 
cornice and paneled wainscot. Separating this room from the 
stair hall is a round arch supported by fluted pilasters on 
pedestals; it has a fluted key. Flanking the arch are fluted 
pilasters, also resting on plain pedestals, with a full 
entablature in ressaut.

The graceful, scrolled, two-run stairway in the west hall 
has three block-and-turned balusters per tread with a composite 
of four balusters forming the newel. The step ends are scrolled, 
The window recess has the same treatment as in the northwest 
room. There is a simple cornice and paneled wainscot.

The small southwest room also has a paneled wainscot and 
simple cornice, but no paneling in the window recesses.

The corner fireplace has a small rectangular opening with 
a simple architrave and mantel shelf. In the wainscot on the 
north wall are two tiny two-panel doors leading to closets 
under the stairs.

The fireplace in the southeast dining room is the same as 
in the northeast room except for the center tablet which in the 
dining room is plain. To the right of the fireplace is a door 
with six panels and four lights. To the left of the fireplace 
the paneled wall angles toward the southeast. In this wall 
are two closets. Next to this an eight-panel door leads into 
the hyphen containing a modern kitchen. The dining room has 
a simple cornice, paneled wainscot and window recesses. The 
old kitchen has a large fireplace and exposed beams in the 
ceiling.

Northwest of the house near the river is a brick, circular 
ice house, similar to that at Kingston Hall in Somerset County, 
Maryland. Laid in common bond with two courses of stretchers 
to each course of headers, it has a low conical roof with 
fishscale shingles. At the peak is a carved wood acorn finial.

GPO 921.724
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John Dennis (1771-1806), son of Littleton and Susanna 
and the inheritor of Beverly, was for ten years a member of 
the U.S. Congress, serving his first term in the Fifth 
Congress at the age of 26. In 1800 he was one of the five 
Federalist Congressmen who changed his vote from Aaron Burr 
to Thomas Jefferson to break the deadlock in the presidential 
election.

In 1798 Dennis obtained a warrant to resurvey several 
tracts in Worcester County. This land, containing about 870 
acres, included that which he had inherited from his father. 
It was patented in 1800 as Dennis's Union. A 25-foot rise 
in the level of the Pocomoke River and errors in the original 
survey of one tract led to an exchange of letters about the 
patent between the Eastern and Western Shore Land Offices 
in 1802. 4

Four years later, John Dennis sold all but eighty-two 
acres of this land to his brother Littleton Dennis (1765- 
circa 1831). The deed reads: ". . .all that plantation lying 
. . . on Pocomoke River in Worcester County which was heretofore 
devised to said John Dennis by his deceased father Littleton 
Dennis. . .one tract called Dennis's Union under a resurvey 
made by the said John Dennis. . . .."5 Littleton was a lawyer 
and a Judge of Appeals in Worcester County from 1801 until 1806. 
In 1831 his sons Littleton Upshur Dennis (1804-1833) of Somerset 
County and John Upshur Dennis (1793-1851) of Worcester County 
recprded a deed as follows:

. . .whereas said Littleton and said John. . . 
hold in common divers lands situated in Accomack 
County, Virginia and Worcester and Somerset Counties 
in Maryland all which lands descended to them from 
their father Littleton Dennis and whereas the said 
parties. . .agree to a partition of^the same, 
determined in manner following. 6

4Letters in the Gift Collection, Hall of Records, Annapolis. 
SDeed Y/313, Worcester County Land Records, Hall of Records, 

Annapolis, Maryland.
6oeed AX/317, Worcester County Land Records.

(See continuation sheet no. 3)
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SIGNIFICANCE, continued

John took possession of the lands in Accomack and Worcester 
Counties except for a "piece of marsh" in the latter, and Little- 
ton took possession of that marsh and all the land in Somerset 
County. Their father did not leave a will so the lands left 
to his sons are never listed specifically.

John Upshur Dennis, who by the deed of partition would 
have received Beverly,^ was a successful planter and merchant. 
He exported cypress staves to the West Indies in his own ships 
and imported cargoes of molasses.8 At his death in 1851, 
he owned five farms in Virginia and Worcester County, a mill, 
and a blacksmith shop. He had 159 slaves of which fifty, the 
largest number at any single place, were at Beverly.9

In his will, probated in 1851, John Upshur Dennis left 
his "plantation whereon I live called Dennis 1 Union and Williams 
Desire" jointly to his sons Samuel King Dennis and Arthur 
Emmerson Dennis after the death of their mother Louisa. 10 
The house descended at about the turn of the 19th century to 
Samuel King Dennis 1 five sons. He was a member of the State 
legislature for several years and several of his sons also held 
prominent positions in politics and the law in Maryland. Beverly 
was sold out of the Dennis family in 1927.

7 Beverly itself apparently stands on the land that was 
known as Dennis's Union. Another tract, called Williams Desire, 
adjoins it and was owned by both Littleton Dennis and his son 
John Upshur Dennis. This latter tract was passed through deeds 
rather than by will and was for a time owned by the Thomas 
Dickersons, Sr. and Jr. (Will TT 8/29, Deeds AP/22 + AM/362).

^Scarborough, p. 389.
9inventory GBG 1/57, Worcester County Inventories. 

GTB 3/402, Worcester County Probate Records.
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